IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JASON T. SMITH, an individual,

Appellant,

VS.

KATY ZILVERBERG, an individual; and VICTORIA EAGAN, an individual,

Respondents.

JASON T. SMITH, an individual,

Appellant,

VS.

KATY ZILVERBERG, an individual; and VICTORIA EAGAN, an individual,

Respondents.

Supreme Ct. No. 80154

Dist. Ct. Case No.: Alloy 17 2020 04:50 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Ct. No. 80348

Dist. Ct. Case No.: A-19-798171-C

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial Court for the County of Clark in Nevada Case No. A-19-798171-C

Hon. Jim Crockett

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

GUS W. FLANGAS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 4989

E-mail: gwf@fdlawlv.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On July 9, 2019, Appellant, Jason T. Smith, filed a Complaint with the district court against Respondents, Katy Zilverberg, and Victoria Eagan. (Joint Appendix at 1, Vol. 1). After service of the complaint, the Parties entered into a stipulated preliminary injunction to preserve the status quo and enjoin the Parties from making any further statements. (*Id.* at 12, Vol. 1). Thereafter, Respondents Ms. Zilverberg and Ms. Eagan filed a Special Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660 (anti-SLAPP) on September 6, 2019, to which the district court granted the Motion to Dismiss. (*Id.* at 20, Vol. 1). The district court heard this motion on October 3, 2019, and entered an order granting Respondents' Special Motion to Dismiss on October 31, 2019. (*Id.* at 492, Vol.3).

Following the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, but before entry of the order, on October 17, 2019, Respondents filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees, Costs and Statutory Awards Pursuant to NRS 41.660. (*Id.* at 421, Vol. 3). The district court heard this motion on November 21, 2019, and entered an order granting Respondents' Motion for Attorneys' Fees, Costs and Statutory Awards Pursuant to Nev. Stat. § 41.670; (2) Granting Respondents' Motion to Dissolve Preliminary Injunction; and (3) Denying Appellant's Motion to Retax on December 20, 2019. (*Id.* at 659, Vol. 4).

Appellant, Jason T. Smith, appeals the district court's order granting Respondents' Special Motion to Dismiss. Specifically, the district court found that Respondents met their initial burden of establishing by a preponderance of the evidence that Appellant's claim is based on Respondents' good faith communications in furtherance of the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern, that such communications were made in a public forum, and were truthful or made without knowledge of falsehood. (Id. at 500:8-28, 502, 501:1-28, 502: 1-11, Vol. 3). The district court further found that Appellant failed to meet this burden to show a probability of prevailing on his claims. (Id. at 503:1-23-28, 504:1-28, 505:1-28, 506:1-11, Vol. 3). Appellant contends that Respondents did not meet their initial burden as Respondents' statements were not made in good faith, were NOT as issue of public interest, and were false and made with knowledge of such falsehood.

Appellant also appeals from the district court's order granting Respondents full attorneys' fees, costs and statutory awards pursuant to NRS 41.670, as well as dissolving the stipulated preliminary injunction in this matter based on dismissing the case. (*Id.* at 659, Vol. 4). Both Appeals were consolidated by the Supreme Court through its order filed on February 27, 2020 granting Appellant's motion to consolidate the Appeals as both cases involved the same Parties and the same legal issues based on the anti-SLAPP defense.

The language of the anti-SLAPP statutes provide that an appeal lies to the Supreme Court. NRS 41.670(4) provides that "[i]f the [district] court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court." While this language does not address an appeal if the court grants the special motion to dismiss, it is implicit that the Supreme Court would retain jurisdiction under either circumstance, as NRS 41.670(4) is only allowed an interlocutory appeal, while an appeal of a grant of a motion to dismiss is a direct appeal. Thus, the Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter should remain with the Nevada Supreme Court per NRAP 17 (a)(12) and (14). The matters raised regarding the principal issues concerning the anti-SLAPP statutes are a principal issue of statewide public importance, and while the Supreme Court has made all rulings hereunder to date, allowing the Court of Appeals to decide such an important issue of constitutionality could result in an inconsistency in the published decisions of the Supreme Court or a conflict between published decisions of the two courts. Moreover, as this Court's existing jurisprudence the areas of defamation and anti-SLAPP law has been inconsistently applied in the district courts, this decision touches both constitutional and common law concerns, as other cases which have been retained by this Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether a party establishes his burden of proof under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute by providing non-substantiated evidence and false evidence to demonstrate the truthfulness of its statements?
- 2. Whether the district court can ignore some of the *Shapiro* factors adopted by the Nevada Supreme Court in analyzing what distinguishes a private interest from a "public interest," versus considering all factors as intended. *Shapiro* v. *Welt*, 133 Nev. 35, 39, 389 P.3d 262, 268?
- 3. Whether Appellant's standing in the "thrifting" community makes him a public figure rising to the level of the need to alert the public on issues of public interest rather than being a personal vendetta by Respondents?
- 4. Whether the district court failed to consider the sufficiency of admissible evidence in finding that Appellant failed to demonstrate a probability of prevailing on his claims?
- 5. When an anti-SLAPP motion, special motion to dismiss is granted, NRS 41.670 provides in pertinent part: (a) that a prevailing party is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees, and (b) that the court may award, in addition to reasonable costs and attorneys' fees awarded pursuant to paragraph (a), an amount of up to \$10,000.00 to the person against whom the action was brought.

- a. Did the district court misapply NRS 41.670 when it concluded Respondents are entitled to all their requested attorneys' fees and costs in the sum of \$69,002.53 for one motion, and allowed fees and costs for work not specifically related to the successful Motion to Dismiss under NRS. 41.660, as the prevailing party is still obligated to substantiate the basis for any award of attorneys' fees and costs, which must be reasonable?
- b. Did the district court misapply NRS 46.270 when it awarded each Respondent \$10,000 in this matter, as this matter was brought against Respondents collectively?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an Appeal from two orders both relating to the granting of an anti-SLAPP motion, and both of which were entered and signed by the district court without the approval of Appellant, Jason T. Smith (hereinafter "Smith" or "Appellant"). (Joint Appendix at 492, Vol. 3; at 659, Vol. 4). Mr. Smith filed his Complaint against Respondents in the district court on July 9, 2019, bringing claims for defamation per se and conspiracy. (*Id.* at 1, Vol. 1).

These claims were based on statements Respondents made after an ended friendship and the start of a personal feud between the Parties, and more importantly in an attempt for a competitor to gain the upper hand in business. (*Id.* at 223:3-9, Vol. 1). Respondents turned to YouTube and Facebook, where all Parties operate their respective businesses. (*Id.* at 223:10-22, Vol. 1). On or about June 14, 2018, Respondent, Katy Zilverberg, (hereinafter "Zilverberg" or "Respondent") posted a video on YouTube entitled "Jason T Smith is an abusive bully" (the "YouTube Video"), wherein Zilverberg goes on an approximately 33-minute rant about Smith. (Id. at 223:10-20, Vol. 2). Zilverberg makes numerous false statements, of which Respondent, Victoria Eagan (hereinafter "Eagan" or Respondent") endorses, that Smith has and will try to "take people down," falsely inferring, among other things, that Smith is predatory and has harassed individuals, which is not true. (*Id.* at 223:10-20, Vol. 2). As this series of tactics continued, on or about April 25, 2019, Eagan

posted false statements on her Facebook, of which Zilverberg endorsed, that Smith has multiple restraining orders against him. (*Id.* at 223:23-28, Vol. 2). Respondents have falsely alleged to the public that Smith has a criminal record of restraining orders and a verified history of harassment, which Smith does not. (*Id.* at 224:1-15, Vol. 2).

Yet, Respondents argued in their Special Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660 that their statements were protected communications under the statute and Smith could not show a probability of prevailing on the merits of his claims. (Id. at 20, Vol. 1). The district court heard the motion on October 3, 2019 and entered an order granting it on October 31, 2019. (Id. at 492, Vol.). The district court acknowledged that some of the statements made by Respondents were false, but incorrectly determined by ignoring *Pope v. Fellhauer*, 2019 WL 1313365, 437 P.3d 171 (Nev. March 21, 2019), that Respondents were still acting in good faith. (Joint Appendix at 357:17-24; 359:-24; 360:1-9, Vol. 2). However, the district court also relied on the fact that Appellant's standing in the "thrifting" community, makes him a public figure rising to the level of the need to alert the public on issues of public interest rather than being a personal vendetta by Respondent. (Id. at 362:1-21; 363:1-12, Vol. 2). The fact that Smith is a "so-called" public figure pertains to the malice requirement under a defamation per se claim, which Smith has clearly proven through scheme and vendetta to harm and injure Smith, but because Smith is

a "so-called" public figure does not prove that any statements they say about him automatically pertain to a matter of public interest. (*Id.* at 220:14-24, Vol. 2). You still need to apply the first part of the anti-SLAPP analysis wherein Respondents' claim must be based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern. (*Id.* at 226: 1-6, Vol. 2).

This is not how the anti-SLAPP law works. Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes allow defendants to file special motion to dismiss lawsuits which were initiated to chill free speech. Using Respondents' rationale of free speech would effectively destroy well-settled Nevada law and turn Tort law as it is known in the United States upside down. As free speech does not protect a situation where defendants intentionally set out on a course and pattern of conduct to defame and destroy someone's name and livelihood before the world without privilege or justification.

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660(3). It must first be determined "whether a moving party has established, by a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." *Id.* Here, the district court decided prong two in Respondents' favor solely because Smith was a "public figure" and ignored the first prong wherein a communication must be in good faith,

meaning not false, and an issue of a public concern, not whether it concerns a public figure. (Joint Appendix at 230:10-21, Vol. 2).

As to the second prong of the anti-SLAPP statutes, while the Court need not reach this stage, Appellant has demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim. Here, there is more than a minimal level of legal sufficiency shown through admissible evidence that Respondents made the false and defamatory statements about Smith with "actual" knowledge they were false. (Id. at 232:21-28, Vol. 2). Although the failure to investigate alone is not grounds for a finding of actual malice, the purposeful avoidance of the truth is in a different category. Nothing whatsoever contained in Appellant's Complaint is designed to chill Respondents' exercise of their First Amendment free speech rights nor has it been filed to obtain a financial advantage over Respondents by increasing litigation costs until Respondents' case is weakened or abandoned. (*Id.* at 234:13-20, Vol. 2). To say otherwise completely ignores the constant stream of false and defamatory statements made by Respondents. In the instant matter, Appellant's claim for Defamation Per Se has merit.

Following the granting of Respondents' anti-SLAPP motion, the district court entered a post-judgment order on December 20, 2019 further granting Respondents all of their requested attorneys' fees and costs in the sum of \$69,002.53 for one motion and allowed fees and costs for work not specifically related to the successful

Motion to Dismiss under NRS. 41.660. (*Id.* at 421, Vol. 3). Yet, the court must still review such a motion for reasonableness. The district court further misapplied NRS 46.270 when it concluded Respondents are entitled to \$10,000 each, as this matter was brought against Respondents collectively, not individually. (*Id.* at 659, Vol. 4). However, any post judgment award should be eliminated upon this Court's reversal of the district court's granting of the underlying anti-SLAPP motion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1.0 The Dispute Between the Parties

This is a factually a very simple case. As there was no discovery allowed or even an evidentiary hearing, the facts are also minimal. What is clear is this is NOT a SLAPP situation.

Smith has been a long-time and well-known member of the thrifting community, a community of individuals who buy and sell used goods online. (Joint Appendix at 222:3-4, Vol. 2). Over the years, Smith has built his reputation in the thrifting community and has established a highly successful business doing so. (*Id.* 222: 5-6, Vol. 2). Smith's business is based on his well-known brand name and reputation as a knowledgeable and successful thrifter. (*Id.* 222: 6-7, Vol. 2).

Respondents are also a part of the thrifting community. (*Id.* 222: 11, Vol. 2). Smith and Respondents have known each other for many years. (*Id.* 222: 11-12, Vol. 2). Smith and Eagan were friends prior to Eagan meeting Zilverberg. (*Id.* 222:

12-13, Vol. 2). Smith introduced Eagan into the Facebook thrifting community. (*Id.* 222: 13-14, Vol. 2). Prior to Respondents meeting each other, Zilverberg was an administrator in Smith's Facebook group. (*Id.* 222: 14, Vol. 2).) Smith personally helped Zilverberg gain supporters and rallied his Facebook group which allowed her to become well-known and establish a successful business in the thrifting community. (*Id.* 222: 16-21, Vol. 2).

Eagan and Zilverberg eventually began a relationship, and Eagan informed Smith that she was going to leave her husband to continue a relationship with Zilverberg. (*Id.* 222: 21-22, Vol. 2). At that time, Smith was also friends with Eagan's now ex-husband. (*Id.* 222: 22-24, Vol. 2). Respondents became upset that Smith did not fully support their relationship, which was solely a result of the fact that Smith was previously friends with Eagan and her husband. (*Id.* 222: 24-26, Vol. 2). As a result, Respondents developed animosity and personal spite towards Smith, and Respondents tried to turn many of Smith's friends against him. (*Id.* 222:26-24, Vol. 2). Since this time, Smith distanced himself from Respondents and cut off all relations with them. (*Id.* 223: 1-2, Vol. 2).

Soon thereafter, Respondents began a campaign against Smith to injure his business and smear his reputation in their inner circle of friends, which are all a part of the thrifting community, and the larger public thrifting community. (*Id.* 223: 3-5, Vol. 2). At the same time, Respondents were in the process of trying to grow their

businesses in the thrifting community, much of which is done through their online presence in the community and the YouTube video channel. Smith is one of Respondents' top competitors. *Id.* 223: 6-9, Vol. 2).

On or about June 14, 2018, Zilverberg posted a video on YouTube entitled "Jason T Smith is an abusive bully" (the "YouTube Video"), wherein Zilverberg goes on an approximately 33-minute rant about Smith. Zilverberg calls Smith names and also makes numerous false statements that Smith has and will try to "take people down." (*Id.* 223: 10-15, Vol. 2). For example, Zilverberg falsely states that Smith has, and will, intentionally get persons thrown out of various business events, again to allegedly "take people down." (*Id.* 223: 13-15, Vol. 2). These false statements made by Zilverberg falsely infer, among other things, that Smith is predatory and has harassed individuals, which is not true. (*Id.* 223: 17-19, Vol. 2). The statements made by Zilverberg, and endorsed by Eagan, have had and continue to have a severe effect on Smith's reputation and has damaged his business. (*Id.* 223: 17-19, Vol. 2).

On or about April 25, 2019, Eagan posted false statements on her Facebook that Smith has multiple restraining orders against him. (*Id.* 223: 21-22, Vol. 2). This post was endorsed by Zilverberg. (*Id.* 223: 22-24, Vol. 2). Respondents have falsely alleged to the public that Smith has a criminal record of restraining orders and a verified history of harassment, which Smith does not. (*Id.* 223: 23-24, Vol. 2). These statements had and continue to have a severe impact on Smith's reputation

and business in the community. Smith has never had any restraining orders against him. (*Id.* at 250: 3, Vol. 2). Respondents attached a background check of a "Jason Todd Smith" to their Motion to Dismiss; however, the majority of the criminal charges contained therein are not connected in any way to Smith. (*Id.* 223: 26-27; 224:1-2, Vol. 2). The documents produced include criminal charges of an individual entirely unrelated to Smith, which was easily ascertained and known by the Respondents. (*Id.* at 224:1-2, Vol. 2).

While Smith previously lived in Ohio, since September 2000, Smith has only ever lived in California and Nevada. (Id. at 250: 8-11, Vol. 2). A majority of the criminal charges, including misdemeanors and felony charges, take place in Ohio after September 2000. (Id.) Smith was no longer residing in Ohio at the time these alleged charges occurred. (Id.) These charges are not related to Smith, also a common name. (Id. at 250: 14-16, Vol. 2). Smith admits that many of the traffic violations prior to the year 2000 contained in the background report are his. (Id. at 250: 17-19, Vol. 2). However, the charges also notably include a "minor in possession" and "carry a concealed weapon" in 2006 – in 2006 Smith was 35 years old residing in Nevada, and Smith has never owned a gun in his life. (*Id.* at 250: 14-16, Vol. 2). These charges, except for the traffic violations that Smith admits to, are clearly unrelated to Smith, yet Respondents continue to injure Smith's reputation by now associating Smith's name with additional false charges in a public Court document. (*Id.* at 250: 17-19, Vol. 2). Notably, none of the charges included in the background report produced by Respondents include any restraining orders. (*Id.* at 250: 20-21, Vol. 2).

Respondents' false statements about Smith are fueled by a private dispute with Smith and a subsequent vendetta to injure Smith and his reputation. (*Id.* at 250: 22-23, Vol. 2). Moreover, Respondents are trying to build their business in the thrifting community and also benefit and gain advantage if Smith's reputation, as a top thrifter in the community, is ruined and his business is destroyed. (*Id.* at 250: 24-26, Vol. 2). Respondents are also capitalizing by using Smith's brand and creating controversy to bring viewers to their online social media and YouTube channel. (*Id.* at 251: 1-3, Vol. 2). Respondents' unlawful actions are nothing more than an attempt by Respondents to publicize a private dispute, gain supporters in the community, harm Smith's brand name and reputation, and capitalize on this to further their business. (*Id.* at 251:4-6, Vol. 2).

2.0 The Proceedings Below

Smith, initiated this case by filing his Complaint on July 9, 2019 against Zilverberg and Eagan. (Joint Appendix at 1, Vol. 1.) After service of the complaint, the parties entered into a stipulated preliminary injunction to preserve the status quo and enjoin the Parties from making any further statements. (*Id.* at 12, Vol.1). On September 6, 2019, after changing counsel, Respondents Zilverberg and Eagan, filed

a Special Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660 (anti-SLAPP) (the "anti-SLAPP Motion"). (*Id.* at 20, Vol. 1). In their anti-SLAPP Motion, Respondents argued that their statements were protected communications under the statute and that Smith could not show a probability of prevailing on the merits of their claims. Respondents also submitted false statements as support for their anti-SLAPP Motion, but more importantly did not deny the statements were made. (*Id.* at 52, Vol. 1).

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