IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JASON T. SMITH,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 19 2020 05:05 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

KATY ZILVERBERG; AND VICTORIA EAGAN,

Case Nos. 80154 / 80348

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Jim Crockett, District Judge District Court Case No. A-19-798171-C

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A "person who engages in a good faith communication in furtherance of ... the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern *is immune from any civil action* for claims based upon the communication." Nev. Rev.

¹³ Given that Mr. Smith fails to support his claim with a citation to the record, this Court need not consider it. *See Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon*, 109 Nev. 990, 997, 860 P.2d 720, 725 (1993) ("This court need not consider the contentions of an appellant where the appellant's opening brief fails to cite to the record on appeal.") (citation omitted).

Stat. § 41.650 (emphasis added). Here, the district court correctly found that Mr. Smith sued Respondents based on their good faith communications in furtherance of their right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern specifically, the anti-social and abusive behavior that Mr. Smith, a renowned public figure, engages in among the thrifting community and his attempts to bully his detractors into silence. (3JA500–03.)

The district court correctly held that Respondents exceeded their burdens under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute. (4JA668, ¶ 43.) The district court also correctly held that Mr. Smith failed to meet his burden of demonstrating his defamation claim had any probability of success. (3JA503–06.) Though Mr. Smith argues that prior cases in which this Court declined to dismiss an action under the anti-SLAPP statute—specifically Coker v. Sassone and Pope v. Fellhauer—should guide this Court to reverse the district court (OB, p. 13), those cases are inapplicable or distinguishable. *Pope* presented an entirely different factual scenario that implicated a private dispute between neighbors, not allegations that a high-profile member of an international business community has repeatedly engaged in misconduct. And *Coker* stands for the proposition that the conduct of producing art forgeries is not protected by Nevada's anti-SLAPP statue. See Coker v. Sassone, 135 Nev. 8, 12-14, 432 P.3d 746, 750-51 (2019). Coker is entirely silent on whether the

communications in this matter merit anti-SLAPP protection, which they do.

Likewise, the district court did not "incorrectly appl[y] the second prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis[.]" (OB, p. 14.) Rather, the district court correctly determined that Mr. Smith's defamation claim was doomed and that Mr. Smith's lone piece of supporting evidence was grossly inadequate to support said claim. (2JA349.) While Mr. Smith argues that Respondents' statements "were at least negligent" (OB, p. 14), such argument is wholly irrelevant. That is because, as a public figure, Mr. Smith must demonstrate that Respondents' fault amounted to "actual malice," not mere negligence, to succeed on his defamation claim. And even if negligence were the correct quantum of fault for his defamation claim, Mr. Smith could not even meet that low bar. Thus, the district court properly dismissed Mr. Smith's suit under the anti-SLAPP statute.

Finally, the district court did not abuse its discretion in awarding Respondents all their requested fees, costs, and a statutory award of \$20,000. Reduction of this award—supported by all the *Brunzell* factors and competent evidence submitted by Respondents and their counsel—would negate the significant deterrent effect the anti-SLAPP statute is supposed to embody. This Court must therefore affirm the district court's decisions in their entirety.

///

V. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

In reviewing a district court's order granting an anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, this Court engages in de novo review. *Coker*, 135 Nev. at 10, 432 P.3d at 748–49 ("As amended, the special motion to dismiss again functions like a summary judgment motion procedurally, thus, we conclude de novo review is appropriate.").

Mr. Smith recites the definition of a SLAPP suit and the two-prong test the district court must use in determining whether a case should be dismissed under Nevada Revised Statutes § 41.660. (OB, pp. 16–18.) Indeed, the moving defendants must establish their burden under the first prong by a preponderance of the evidence, and on de novo review, this Court should "give[] deference to the district court's findings of fact" while independently reviewing "whether those facts satisfy the applicable legal standard." (OB, p. 18 (citing *Hernandez v. State*, 124 Nev. 639, 647, 188 P.3d 1126, 1131–32 (2008).)

Here, Respondents established their burden under the first prong by a preponderance of the evidence, and thus, contrary to Mr. Smith's contention (OB, p. 18), this Court must also review the district court's analysis of the second prong of the anti-SLAPP analysis—*i.e.*, whether Mr. Smith demonstrated with *prima facie* evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim. Given the wealth of evidence submitted by Respondents in comparison to the lone, self-serving, inadequate

declaration submitted by Mr. Smith, Respondents ably satisfied the "substantial evidence test" urged by Mr. Smith, as "a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion" (OB, p. 18 (quoting *State Emp't Sec. Dep't v. Hilton Hotels*, 102 Nev. 606, 608, 729 P.2d 497, 498 (1986) (citation omitted)) that Mr. Smith had zero probability of prevailing on any of his claims.

Although Mr. Smith coyly elides it in his Opening Brief (*see* OB, pp. 18–19), this Court reviews an award of fees and costs for an abuse of discretion. *See Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 130 Nev. 67, 80, 319 P.3d 606, 615 (2014); *see also Jackson v. State*, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001) ("An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." (citation omitted)). A district court's award of fees is not disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Bobby Berosini, Ltd. v. People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals*, 114 Nev. 1348, 1353–54, 971 P.2d 383, 386 (1998). Here, the district court's award of fees, costs, and a discretionary award under Nevada Revised Statutes § 41.670 were well within the district court's discretion and must be upheld.

VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Smith's suit—a bald-faced attempt to silence Respondents' criticism and make an example of them so no other member of their shared community ever dares to speak out against him—is a quintessential SLAPP and a desperate attempt to keep his long history of abhorrent behavior hidden from the thrifting community and the general public. The district court correctly determined that Respondents' warnings about Mr. Smith met the first prong of Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute by a preponderance of the evidence. The communications—which are factual, made without knowledge of falsehood, or are opinions incapable of being true or false are of interest not only to members of the thrifting community (*i.e.*, Mr. Smith's past, present, and future targets) but also to the general public that interacts with Mr. Smith and purchases Mr. Smith's products based on a trustworthy, progressive façade that, in Respondents' (and many others') opinions, is phony.

A. The District Court Correctly Held that Respondents Met Their Burden.

To prevail on a special motion to dismiss, a defendant must first "establish[], by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660(3)(a). Nevada anti-SLAPP law defines a "[g]ood faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern" as, *inter alia*, a communication: (1) "made in direct connection with an issue of public interest"; (2) made "in a place open to the public or in a public forum;" and (3) "which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637.

In the instant case, the district court correctly held that Ms. Zilverberg and Ms. Eagan met these three requirements by a preponderance of the evidence. (3JA500–03.) First, the district court held that Respondents' communications were directly connected to an issue of public concern. (3JA500–02.) Specifically, they were criticism of (and warnings about) the anti-social behavior that Mr. Smith—a public figure—has long inflicted upon members of the ever-growing thrifting community. (*Id.*) Second, Respondents' complained-of communications were made on the internet, a public forum.¹⁴ (3JA502.) Third, the district court correctly held that Respondents' communications are all either truthful or opinion incapable of being true or false and were thus made without knowledge of falsehood. (3JA502–

03.)

///

///

///

///

¹⁴ This contention was not disputed in district court and is not addressed here.

1. Respondents' Statements Were Made In Direct Connection with an Issue of Public Concern.

Nevada has adopted California's five-factor Weinberg test¹⁵ for determining

what constitutes "an issue of public interest" in the anti-SLAPP context. Shapiro v.

Welt, 133 Nev. 35, 389 P.3d 262, 268 (2017). Specifically:

(1) "public interest" does not equate with mere curiosity;

(2) a matter of public interest should be something of concern to a substantial number of people; a matter of concern to a speaker and a relatively small specific audience is not a matter of public interest;

(3) there should be some degree of closeness between the challenged statements and the asserted public interest—the assertion of a broad and amorphous public interest is not sufficient;

(4) the focus of the speaker's conduct should be the public interest rather than a mere effort to gather ammunition for another round of private controversy; and

(5) a person cannot turn otherwise private information into a matter of public interest simply by communicating it to a large number of people.¹⁶

¹⁶ The California court deciding *Weinberg* originally phrased this prong as "those charged with defamation cannot, by their own conduct, *create their own defense by making the claimant a public figure*. A person cannot turn otherwise private information into a matter of public interest simply by communicating it to a large number of people." *Weinberg*, 2 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 392–93 (emphasis added; citations omitted). Here, the district court did not need to look to Respondents' conduct to determine whether their communications or conduct "made" Mr. Smith a public figure—Mr. Smith himself insisted that he is a "well-known public figure" in his complaint. (1JA2.)

¹⁵ See Weinberg v. Feisel, 2 Cal. Rptr. 3d 385, 392–93 (Cal. Ct. App. 2003). Throughout this brief, the *Weinberg* factors may also be referred to as the *Shapiro* factors.

Shapiro, 133 Nev. at 39–40, 389 P.3d at 268 (quoting *Piping Rock Partners, Inc. v. David Lerner Assocs., Inc.*, 946 F. Supp. 2d 957, 968 (N.D. Cal. 2013)). Furthermore, Nevada courts "define an issue of public interest broadly." *Coker*, 135 Nev. at 14, 432 P.3d at 751. As argued below, the district court correctly weighed each of these factors in holding that the statements at issue in this case necessarily pertain to a matter of public interest.

a. The Instant Case is Distinguishable from *Pope v*. *Fellhauer*.

Mr. Smith disingenuously claims that this matter is "identical" to the one addressed in this Court's "key mark" (but unpublished) decision in *Pope v*. *Fellhauer*, 2019 WL 1313365, 437 P.3d 171 (Nev. March 21, 2019). (OB, pp. 13, 27.) The district court rejected this spurious argument, and this Court must as well.

Pope is distinguishable from the instant matter in many respects. *Pope* involved a dispute between three cul-de-sac neighbors; the neighbors quarreled and had verbal altercations. *Id.* at *1. In *Pope*, Mr. Pope began making statements about the Fellhauers on social media sites, such as Twitter and Alert-ID, a "neighborhood crime-reporting website," alleging that the Fellhauers were dangerous, sick, and mentally unstable; that they were the reason behind the neighborhood being labeled a "crime zone;" and asserting the Fellhauers recorded a naked one-year-old

swimming in Mr. Pope's pool. *Id.* Eventually, the Fellhauers filed a defamation complaint against Mr. Pope, and in response, Mr. Pope filed an anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, which the district court denied. *Id.*

In *Pope*, this Court looked to the *Shapiro* factors in determining whether there was a "public interest" or "public concern" in Mr. Pope's statements about the Fellhauers. *Id.* at *2. In applying these factors, this Court determined that Mr. Pope was simply making public his private feud with the Fellhauers—*i.e.*, that there was "not a sufficient connection between Pope's statements and his asserted public interest of warning potential neighbors and others about the Fellhauers" 'abusive and potentially illegal behavior." *Id.* This Court noted that there was "no evidence that anyone—other than his two friends—were concerned with Pope's commentary or that [Pope] was adding to a preexisting discussion." *Id.* This Court further characterized Mr. Pope "was using the online forums as 'ammunition for another round of [the] private controversy[.]" *Id.* at *3.

By contrast, Ms. Zilverberg's and Ms. Eagan's truthful allegations regarding Mr. Smith (a public figure) touch on a matter of concern to a substantial number of people, as the already-massive online thrifting community continues to grow along with the market for Mr. Smith's thrifting-related products. (*See* 1JA34; 2JA362–

63;¹⁷ 3JA501.) Furthermore, as a public figure, Mr. Smith's conduct in the community is automatically of concern to a large number of people. *See Serova v. Sony Music Entm't*, 26 Cal. App. 5th 759, 772, 237 Cal. Rptr. 3d 487, 496 (Cal. Ct. App. 2018), *as modified on denial of rehearing* (Sept. 13, 2018) ("Public interest in the life and work of entertainers and other celebrities can create an 'issue of public interest' for purposes of [California's anti-SLAPP statute]. There is a public interest which attaches to people who, by their accomplishments, mode of living, professional standing or calling, create a legitimate and widespread attention to their activities.") (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). Based on Mr. Smith's complaint, he created such "legitimate and widespread" attention to his activities in the thrifting community (*see* 1JA2), and thus his behavior in the thrifting community is a matter of public concern.

Here, there is a wealth of evidence that the complained-of statements added to a preexisting (albeit hushed) discussion of Mr. Smith's behavior and elicited significant concern and further commentary. Even though Ms. Zilverberg's widely

¹⁷ "[THE COURT:] ...the thrifting community is a public interest, and although it's definitely smaller than all of the Democrats, or all the Republicans, or all the people that live in Nevada ... because of the fact that it's an internet-based marketing system, it actually touches upon many, many people ... as opposed to somebody beefing in an HOA situation and complaining and making comments about other members of the board..." (2JA362–63.)

viewed YouTube Video was only public for five days (1JA57-58), it was commented on hundreds of times. (See 1JA58; see generally 1JA66-153 (full collection of comments posted to the YouTube Video).) Although some commenters took Mr. Smith's side and leveled criticism (and vitriol) at Ms. Zilverberg, many commenters expressed support for Ms. Zilverberg and gratitude for her courage in exposing Mr. Smith's behavior. (See generally id.) Several members of the thrifting community shared their own stories of being subjected to Mr. Smith's anti-social behavior. (See 1JA35-36, n.8.) The voluminous online discussion spurred by the YouTube Video demonstrates that—unlike the statements in *Pope*—the communications at issue in this matter were of concern to a substantial number of people and thus directly connected to an issue of public concern. See Nygard, Inc. v. Uusi-Kerttula, 159 Cal. App. 4th 1027, 1042, 72 Cal. Rptr. 3d 210, 220 (2008) ("an issue of public interest' within the meaning of [California's anti-SLAPP statute] is any issue in which the public is interested. In other words, the issue need not be 'significant' to be protected by the anti-SLAPP statute—it is enough that it is one in which the public takes an interest.") (emphasis in original).

Finally, in *Pope*, the parties were all private citizens whose dispute did not extend beyond the boundaries of their cul-de-sac. *Pope*, 2019 WL 1313365 at *2–3. Here, by contrast, Mr. Smith is a public figure who has made his living projecting a

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